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Pat Faudry, Eleanor Richmond

[0:00:00]
Pat Faudry:
The is Pat Faudry on May 11, 1979.  We’re talking – Betty Tilley and I are talking with Miss Eleanor Richmond,
R-I-C-H-M-O-N-D, at the Parkview Hotel in Memphis.  This is part of a grand sponsored – given to the Metropolitan Interfaith Association by the Tennessee Committee for the Humanities.  This is part of the project involving Mid-Memphis Improvement Association.

Miss Richmond told me briefly that she was a Mississippi GIRL, grew up in – was born in Oxford, and then through a chain of events, settled in Memphis with her family.  Miss Richmond, tell me about that particular chain of events.  Give me the years if you can.

Eleanor Richmond:
All right.  I’ll commence.  My great grandfather, John Currie Richmond, came out from Caswell County, North Carolina somewhere in the 1830s.

[0:00:56]
His lovely wife, Betsy Stevens, had died.  He was much depressed.  He freed his slaves and brought his children – the servants came with him as wage-earners, but he brought children not Hayward County where so many of his Currie relatives lived, but down to – as a native, I call it Lafayette County.  Outlanders call it Lafayette because of the general.

But he came to Lafayette County and settled there, owning land in Marshall County and Panola County, also.  He came there because his good friend, Jacob Thompson from Caswell County, North Carolina, had come there.  Jacob Thompson was the largest landholder in the area, and John Currie Richmond was the next to the largest landholder in the area so the census records show.


[0:01:49]
 His son, William Currie Richmond, was a child of about eight or nine.  They settled the area where North Mississippi College was, the area was called College Hill.  There were two things there to remember, the College Hill Presbyterian Church, which is still tremendously important, and the North Mississippi College.  The College Hill Presbyterian Church has the original building with doors on the pews.

When I was a little girl, the original session house stood hear the church building where the Presbyterian session, you know is important in church government, and the session met in the session house.  The session house has been gone a long, long time, but I have a long memory.  That’s the only old church I ever saw that had the session house that was a characteristic of the early Presbyterian Church.  Well, this Presbyterian settlement existed, but the University of Mississippi was established in Oxford in 1840, and the college – they had a college here – was closed.  I still have some of the records of the college.

[0:02:59]
My father, Edwin Doug Richmond, was born just at the end of the War for Confederate Independence.

My grandfather, though – I was going to tell, you my grandfather went to the University of Pennsylvania to study medicine.  He graduated in medicine at the University of Pennsylvania in 1854.  And the next big event in his life was that he married Ann Elizabeth Currie in Hayward County, Tennessee, and they came to College Hill to live.

Betty Tilley:
Currie is C-U-R-R-Y.

Eleanor Richmond:
C-U-R-R-I-E is Currie.  The family points with pride Pierre Currie who shared in the Scottish war against King Haakon on of Norway and gain the Hebrides Islands.

[0:03:57]
My grandfather Richmond, William Currie Richmond lost his health in War for Confederate Independence.  He was one of the soldiers of the Confederate Army who protected Vicksburg, and that was a long, hard siege, that siege of Vicksburg.  I have been to Vicksburg, and I have walked the field there – the area.

My father grew up in the limitation after the war.  He went to work as a very – he went to work as a youth when he was about 14, and I remember that he tried to keep up his Latin.  He settled into the activity of selling fruit trees.  That was good for the land.  And one of my great joys now is to see an orchard that father sold.

[0:04:53]
One of his buyers told me recently that the reason my father’s repeat business was so good was that he paid such attention to the tracts of trees – the tracts of land that he had covered with trees that he sold.  He sold orchards.  He sold pecan groves.  He had not patience for the sale of ornaments like shrubbery, oh, no.  He was selling fruits and nuts to feed people, to stabilize the land, to make a money crop. (5:23:28)

One of his happy memories was that he had sold a large peach orchard to a man who soon after became an invalid, and the man supported himself through years of being an invalid by the products of that peach orchard.  I was present when he came to thank father for encouraging him to buy those trees because that was the money crop during the years that that man was an invalid.

[0:05:56]
While father sold the fruit trees, we lived in Oxford.  The old house still stands.  It’s next door to the cemetery.  We moved there about – let’s see about – father and mother married in 1900.  They moved there soon afterward.  It has gingerbread on it, and the people who live in it keep the gingerbread in perfect order.

I’ve never been back in it.  I’ve wanted to remember it as we had it because we were a family that grew and we had dear precious neighbors.  Linda Ramey lives across the street from us now in Oxford – across the street from our house, though she’s in a nursing home in Oxford at this time.  But it was a dear, dear street.

Down the street and around the corner was the home that my mother’s family had had earlier next door to the LQC Lamar home.  And there other places in Oxford that are dear.  The Jacob Thompson home was burned.

[0:07:02]
Jacob Thompson had been secretary of the interior in President Buchanan’s cabinet, and after that, he worked for the confederacy in England for two years.  When he returned he settled in Memphis.  But the Jacob Thompson home was burned.  And the story goes that the silver from the Jacob Thompson home was strewn from one end of Oxford to the other.  But the home of Jacob Thompson’s son, Macon, who was killed in the confederacy – who was killed in the War for Confederate Independence – the home of Jacob Thompson’s son, Macon, is still there not far from the old Shegog-Bailey place that William Faulkner bought after he had made some money writing books.

Well, anyway, we loved Oxford.  We love it still.  We have gone back there to bury, and it’s been my great pleasure to meet old friends who say, “Oh, you are one of Ed Richmond’s daughters” – I’m told I look like my father – or to meet people who will stop me, “You’re Dr. Will Richmond’s granddaughter.  He was the doctor who delivered all of us.”

[0:08:09]
Well, Dr. Will Richmond did more than deliver babies.  He was responsible for the first surgical operation in North Mississippi.  That was in 1877.  There was this very young man who had gallstones or kidney stones.  I’m not sure where the stones were.  My grandfather was older, left-handed, inept manually, and he came to Memphis and persuaded a young friend, Dr. Rogers – Miss Shuba Beasley and I agreed that was her father, not her grandfather.  Dr. Rogers came to Oxford to perform the surgery.  There were no anesthetics then.


[0:08:52]
My father sat in the window and the community gathered outside.  It was sort of a mob, polite, uncertain, rather sullen.  This was interfering with the ways of God to cut into a human body.  And the mob was so quiet, just almost threatening as the blade touched – the blade of the scalpel touched the stone, the sound could be heard, and my father said that he would never forget the long sigh of relief that was let out through the people that were waiting there.

And presently, when my grandfather, William Currie Richmond, was able to come forth and say the operation was over, the incision was sewed, the patient was in good condition, and all was well, why they blessed him.  He was a saint.  They never ceased to praise him.

[0:09:56]
But my father said he learned from that suspicious attitude of the crowd while it was being done, that uncertain feeling about whether this was right or not.  But one of the things that it gave my father was a great faith in surgery.  Fortunately, all of his children were healthy, so we didn’t have to exercise that great faith in surgery.

But I was asked to write that up for the Mississippi Medical Journal, but it really was such a simple thing and I know so little about exactly what did happen.  But anyway, it’s one of the things we tell the grandchildren that one must always have this surgical operation when the doctor says so. Now let me see.  (10:43:28)

There weren’t many – enough people around in that hill country to buy all the fruit trees.  There were four children.  And the West Tennessee land was developing.  The farm needed fruit trees.  The fruit development in Gibson County around Humboldt and Trenton with the plant up there, that was coming along.

[0:11:05]
So, we moved into West Tennessee.  Caryville was a sweet town that had sent a lot of students to the university, and so my parents thought Caryville would be the place to live.  But when we lived in Caryville, though we enjoyed the town and still have dear friends, there we found that it turned toward Memphis, and my father was away from home most of the time, and so he looked – he and mother look further at a town with more entity as a town.  The school in Covington had built a new high school.  The schools in Covington were approved by the Southern Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools, just like the schools in Oxford were.  And the Presbyterian Church in Covington was strong, so we moved to Covington and bought the Sam McClanahan house next too door Mr. and Mrs. WD Smith.

[0:12:02]
We called the lady Grandmother Smith, and her son, Mr. Palmer Smith, lived on the other side.  So we lived there on the old Palmer property that all the Smiths occupied, lived there for 10 or 12 happy years.  We weren’t kin to anybody in Covington, but the people were lovely to us.

Pat Faudry:
What year did you move there?

Eleanor Richmond:
We moved to Covington in 1911, the autumn of 1911.  We had moved to Caryville in the autumn of 1910.  I once said to Arvo McFadden, who was our good friend – Arvo and Ella, both in Covington, and after we lived in Memphis.  And I said to Arvo McFadden people in Covington were so lovely to us and we we’re kin to anybody there.  And Arvo said, “No, Eleanor, you were spiritually kin to a great many people there, and you still are.  Let me never again hear you say you weren’t kin to anybody in Covington.”

[0:12:59]
I thought that was a very, very sweet thing for Arvo to say, and I will agree to it.  We are – and my friends, the trio of friends – we’re still dear friends – Agatha Katherine, who lives in California where she graduated from the University of California with a graduate degree from the University of South California, and my friend Mary Wilson who is Miss Joelle Stevenson, on the faculty of Brevard College, North Carolina, where she’s been librarian, and her husband was dean.  Mary graduated from Georgia Wesleyan.  And I went back for two years at Old Miss.

And then when we moved to Memphis in January of 1924, it was with the feeling that the younger children would go to college at Southwestern.  By my years – my two years at the University of Mississippi where I met a family friend every time I turned around, were very, very dear.

[0:13:57]
Will Percy, down at Greenville, was in his prime as a writer at the time, and he was on campus every little while.  We all knew Will Percy, and we all read Lanterns on the Levee.

Tom Williams came over from – I forget where it was Clarksdale or Columbus, but he came over every two weeks bring his grandfather, the elderly Episcopal priest, old Dr. Deacon, and Tom as just beginning to write.  Dr. Deacon held services either in St. Peters out in town or in chapel on campus, but he held the Episcopal service.  There was no resident priest then.

William Faulkner was the postmaster, and he was just beginning.  Somebody asked me once, “Do you know the Faulkners?” and I said, “Well, in Oxford, everybody knows everybody.”  Of course, I knew William Faulkner.  I remember when he was postmaster once and my family had sent me a heavy suitcase through the mail.  Why, William Faulkner carried over to the dormitory.  Why, of course, he couldn’t see me walking off carrying that suitcase, through it was empty.

[0:15:01]
Dorothy Older, who had been my friend as a little girl, Dorothy Older was a freshmen.  And I said to Dorothy once, I never know whether to speak to Bill or not.”  And she said, “Why, of course, you would speak to him.  He knows you.  He’s just occupied with his own thoughts.”  She said, “Of course, I always speak to him because he and my sister, Estelle, are such good friends.”  Well, of course, presently, why, William Faulkner and Estelle Older married.

When Dorothy was in the hospital here in Memphis dying of cancer of the marrow of the bone – Bill Faulkner had died then – Estelle and a I sat it out for several weeks as Dorothy was dying.  I said, “I do think it is so strange that you, Dorothy, who write fluently, your biography of Jacob Thompson is a standard biography, and you, Estelle, who wrote a novel called White Magnolias that never has been printed yet, and Jill, who’s had an article published in the magazine called Seventeen about her trip to Stockholm, none of you has ever written about Bill.  And I’m sure you could use the money.  All of us could use some more money.  But you’ve never written, and you have much to tell.”

[0:16:11]
Estelle laughed and Dorothy said, “Well, that’s the way Bill wants it, and that’s the way it’s going to be.”  And it’s true that Bill’s women never wrote about him, neither his aunt, Miss Holland, Miss Jim Wilkerson.  Miss Jim Wilkerson was one of the very early Delta Gammas in Oxford, and presently, why, Estelle and Dorothy both became members of Delta Gamma.  Delta Gamma was founded in Oxford December 27, 1873.  It was one of the very earliest sororities – fraternities for women.  The word “sorority” hadn’t even been coined then.

My aunt, Willie Richmond, who was a student at Lois Institute, was not one of the early three.  She was at home for Christmas.

[0:16:57]
The roads to Cosiosco were so bad, those three girls couldn’t travel back to Cosiosco for Christmas.  But Aunt Willie was a very early member and was a delegate from the mother chapter at the First National Convention of the Delta Gamma.  And I’m happy to say that Delta Gamma bestowed a membership on me about 1953.  I possess it proudly and happily.  Delta Gamma’s service for the blind has been a great benefit in colleges and universities over the land, and particularly at Old Miss. (17:31:22)

You see, Delta Gamma was not founded at Old Miss.  It was founded at Louis Institute.  And there was not a chapter at Old Miss until 1927 when the fraternities and sororities were allowed to come back onto campus.  They’d been banished in 1913.

Well anyway, we moved to Memphis in 1924.  And I finished that year at the University of Mississippi happily.  I loved the people there, and they have been so good to me.

[0:18:01]
Oh, my.  They’ve sent me everything I’ve ever wanted out of the library.  They’ve provided a speaker for a Memphis event every time I’ve asked for a speaker down there.  Particularly I remember when Bill Wiley, the professor of history had just awarded the Harmsworth Chair at Oxford University.  That was set up after the First World War and Samuel L.  Morris of Harvard filled it the first three years.  Well, the only other person I ever knew that filled it was Bill Wiley of the University of Mississippi.  But he came up and made a speech for the social studies teachers of Memphis shortly before he set out for Oxford University.

I regret to say he did not return to Old Miss.  Emery College got him.  Of course, he was a Methodist preacher’s son and Emery was entitled to have him, but it’s one of the things that I think Emery’s mighty fortunate.  But, of course, Emery’s a great school.

[0:18:56]
Anyway, we lived here in Memphis.  We bought the house of the Harry Conrads.  Now before we bought that house, there’d been a Tom Thumb wedding there to fill out of the program of Trinity Methodist Church.

Pat Faudry:
Give us the address of that home.

Eleanor Richmond:
Our house?  Well,

Pat Faudry:
– Harry Conrad.

Eleanor Richmond:
Oh, 1780 Forest.  It was next door to the house that the Awsumb family occupied at 1792 Forest.  That house had been built by Mr. and Mrs. WP Chapman.  Miss Chapman had been a musician, Mary Bowling Chapman.  She was the second piano teacher of the distinguished pianist, Eugenia Buxton.

My cousin, Mary Morris, at 188 South McClain, was the first piano teacher.  Of course, I’m kin to the Morris.  That’s the reason I was interested in Samuel Elliot Morris as being the first professor to occupy the Harmsworth Chair.  Lord Harmsworth endowed that chair in memory of his son who died in the First World War.

[0:19:57]
Anyway, to get back to music teachers, Mrs. Chapman taught piano there.  And then I don’t know just what happened.  Death intervened and the Coopers occupied that house for a time.  Now the Coopers are known as Marty Coopers’ family, Montgomery Cooper, Elizabeth Montgomery Cooper.  The old Montgomery home, you know, is where the William R.  Morris School is.  That’s where Oscar Wilde has stayed when he came to Memphis and made a talk here.

I’m not sure of that date; 1897 comes into my mind, but that may not be right.  Anyway, the old Montgomery house had an elevator.  It was a curious sort of a raft of wood with one rope in it, and the one rope went up over a pulley.  And when the person came home so much entertained by fun and lots of spirits – with two meanings on the word “spirits” – why, they would pull the rope over the pulley and get the person who was laying down on that raft of wood – get him up to the top where the bedroom was.

[0:21:08]
There were – the Coopers, though, had moved into the house and they were renting it.  So it was for the Coopers to let the Awsumbs look through it when the Awsumbs – before the Awsumbs bought it.  By the time the Coopers left that house, they had built a white frame house on Montgomery Street.  It’s almost on the back campus of Maury School.  And I was principal at Maury School a few years just before I retired and knew the people who lived in that pleasant little house, although I was there as Marty’s Coopers’ guest while the Coopers lived there.  But we never knew the Coopers because they had gone and the George Awsumbs had moved into 1792 Forrest.

[0:21:54]
Mr. Awsumb, of course, was Norwegian.  He had been born in Norway.  Now I’m not sure whether he was born in – whether the area where he was born was Norway or Sweden when he was born there.  If I remember, it was S-K-W-E-N-E called Skwene, and it was back and forth as many of the border towns are between Norway and Sweden.  But anyway, his father was a tailor and had come over to this country, and then the mother came later.

Mr. Awsumb used to say that their mother brought the children, each child with a rope around its middle, and that rope tied to the rope of the mother’s waist.  Someone may have told you that before, but it was one of Mr. Awsumb’s best stories.  The only plant that he saw around here that he remembered as having seen in Norway was a big white snowball.  We had a snowball push in our side yard, the side on Hawthorn just across from North – from the Awsumb’s.  And Mr. Awsumb used to say he loved to see it bloom.  It was the one plan that he remembered from childhood in Norway.

[0:23:04]
Well, when we lived there, Mr. and Mrs. Scott Myrick had just built the cottage on the side of us.  Miss Shals lives there now.

Pat Faudry:
Miss Richmond, let me ask you about the Awsumbs.  His father had come to Memphis, too, or –?

Eleanor Richmond:
No, his father never came to Memphis.  He came – oh, I’ll tell you how it happened that he came here. (23:24:21)

 He studied architecture.  He must have studied very, very hard.  He won a traveling fellowship in Europe and he had two experiences walking around Europe with his paintbrush in his hand and a little container that held water that he carried on his thumb, and his pad in his other hand.

And he was with I suppose a very good firm in Chicago.  Ottawa Presbyterian Church was to be built.  And Mr. CO Pfeil went to Chicago and –
[0:24:07]
Pat Faudry:
CO Pfeil?

Eleanor Richmond:
Uh-huh, P-F-E-I-L.  Mr. Pfeil went to Chicago – I read he went to Chicago, and he brought Mr. Awsumb to Memphis to draw the plans for Ottawa Church.  And the understanding was if the plans were accepted, why Mr. Awsumb would be in a partnership and it would be Pfeil and Awsumb.  That happened.  We had the beautiful Ottawa Church, and the firm was Pfeil and Awsumb until after Mr. Pfeil’s death.  I believe now the firm carried on by two architects who are Mr. Awsumb’s son, Wells Awsumb and Richard N.  Awsumb.  And the firm now I believe is Awsumb Associates.  And I believe some of the Awsumb grandchildren are in the firm.  I remember that Carl Awsumb is in the firm, and the Awsumbs still have the house.

[0:25:01]
The lot across the street from us was vacant when we moved there, but presently the RB Sims built that big sprawling house.  It’s now a duplex.  Miss Sims had been Carrie Mae Mann, a Caryville friend, and we enjoyed her and her husband and her music.  She was a competent musician.

Pat Faudry:
The spelling on Sims?

Eleanor Richmond:
Sims, S-I-M-S, Mss RB Sims – Mr. and Miss RB Sims.

Pat Faudry:
And tell me the address of that.  That was on the other side –?

Eleanor Richmond:
I guess that’s 1781.  It’s across the street.

Pat Faudry:
[Inaudible Comment]
Eleanor Richmond:
Uh-huh.  Diagonally across the street was a house, 1793 Forest, that was built by Mr. and Miss James E.  Scheibler.

[0:25:57]
Mr. Scheibler was of Swiss lineage.  They were Episcopalian

Pat Faudry:
Spell that.

Eleanor Richmond:
S-C-H-E-I-B-L-E-R, Scheibler.  They – Mrs. Scheibler had been a Wessendorf.  I guess that’s W-E-S-S-E-N-D-O-R-F, and her parents lived out in California.  Mr. and Miss Scheibler had traveled a great deal.  I believe Mr. Scheibler was second generation – let’s see.  I believe the Scheibler – Mr. Scheibler’s parents, I think, came over.  They were Swiss, as I said.  And I don’t know – I believe Mr. Scheibler was born in this country, though I think he was born perhaps – I don’t know.  I think he was born before they came to Memphis I’m not sure.  The Scheibler business was a business in hides and nuts and things like that on Front Street for a long, long time.

[0:27:05]
The Scheiblers, as I said, were Episcopalian.  Mr. Scheibler – when they married, Mr. Scheibler had been a member of the small old Church of the Good Shepherd up at Forth and Mill, which was the most exactly high church among the Episcopal churches in Memphis, I think.  And Miss Scheibler had been a member at her home in California.  But after they were married, they decided to join Calvary Episcopal Church and they were Calvary members – members of the Scheibler family had been stallwords at Calvary.

They had two children.  One was Beatrice Scheibler-Gerber, who graduated at St. Mary’s Episcopal School, studied at University – I think she – it was in Geneva, if remember correctly.

[0:27:59]
And then she came home and she and her brother, Jim Scheibler, graduated at the University of – both graduated at the University of Chicago.  Beatrice married Charles Gerber.  She was one of the amateur actresses at the Memphis Little Theatre, who was simply professional.  And I can remember every role B Gerber played is a role that gave us joy.  She lives here in Memphis now, Miss Charles Gerber, in Hine Park.  And her brother lives on some of the Scheibler land.

The Scheiblers had lots of land, near Raleigh.  The brother, Jim Scheibler – he has his father’s name – has been the mainstay of St. Elizabeth Episcopal Church out a Raleigh.  And he was senior warden, I think.  I’m not a Episcopalian, so I can’t speak with definiteness about this, but Jim has been the peg on which St. Elizabeth’s grew and grew.

[0:29:00]
Now let me see.  Our house was so very interesting. (29:03:20)

 
When Southwestern was opened there in September of 1925, the Southwestern faculty began to settle around us.  Dr. and Miss Hartley bought the SA Cameron house up in the next block.  I don’t know who lives in that now.  Sid Cameron graduated, as I did, in the first class that graduated from Southwestern on the Memphis campus.  That was 1927.

Now that wasn’t the first class in Memphis.  The first class in Memphis was 1926, but it graduated downtown in the old First Presbyterian Church.  There wasn’t room enough there.  And so the next year, they had it in Harley Auditorium at Southwestern.  See, there are many people from Southwestern that are recent that live on Forest that I don’t even know, but I think of Dr. and Mrs. Martin Storn, who lived out in the block to the east of us on the house next to the corner.

[0:29:58]
One of the first Southwestern families to move on our campus was Dr. and Miss WO Shewmaker at 1750 Forest.  They bought the WE Hyde house, and –
Pat Faudry:
– Shoemaker?

Eleanor Richmond:
S-H-E-W-M-A-K-E-R.  And because the Hydes were lumbermen, why, that house contained some of the most beautiful lumber one will find anywhere in the world.  By the way, I hope you’ve noticed the beautiful walnut paneling here in the Park View.  It could not be replaced.  We’re very, very proud of it.

There are other families on this Southwestern campus –
Pat Faudry:
What was the address of the Hide house the Shewmakers –?

Eleanor Richmond:
1750.  At one –
Pat Faudry:
Hide is HY?

Eleanor Richmond:
H-Y-D-E.  (30:38:02)

One of the interesting houses – interesting to me – was the house the Allen Tates when Allen Tate came to Memphis to teach at Southwestern.  He taught two years here in between writing books.

It’s up next close to Stonewall.  It faces north.  It’s on the south side of the street.  And it’s the second house on the right side of the street coming from Stonewall.

[0:31:01]
I forget who had it before.  I forget who has it now.  But the – and I don’t know the number.  But the Allen Tates lived in it for two years, and they had lots of company there.  Andrew Nelson Lidel taught at Southwestern either a year or a semester.  I forget which.  But he lived with the Tates.  And we used to see – [Skip in Audio] some neighbor came to speak to the new neighbors and saw the book on the coffee table and asked to borrow it.  Well, it had come so recently, Miss Tate had unwrapped it, but she hadn’t had time to look inside it.  Miss Take lent it to him and didn’t get to look inside it till the time the lady returned it.

But the Tate’s little girl live there, Nancy.  She later married a Memphis boy, Dr. PH Wood, a psychiatrist, son of Dr. and Miss Percy Wood, and they live up in New Jersey at Princeton.

Now let me see.  What else about our house?  Well, we lived next door to the Myricks.  They were on our right, 1772 Forest.

[0:32:03]
Pat Faudry:
[Inaudible Comment]
Eleanor Richmond:
M-Y-R-I-C-K.  Mrs. Myrick’s –
Pat Faudry:
[Inaudible Comment] [Skip in Audio]
Eleanor Richmond:
Miss Myrick’s children were adults.  They had children of their own, small children, but they were over there frequently.  Her daughter, Catherine, was Miss – is now Miss Carl Robinson, and Miss Carl Robinson’s daughter –R-O-B-I-N-S-O-N, that is.  Miss Carl Robinson’s daughter is G-W-E-N-D-O-L-Y-N, Gwendolyn, VanCourt, V-A-N-C-O-U-R-T.  Robinson, R-O-B-I-N-S-O-N, Awsumb, A-W-S-U-M-B.  Mrs. Carl Awsumb, who has been active in city leadership.  Gwen was with her Grandmother Myrick from time to time as a child.  And, of course, Wells Awsumb was our neighbor on the other side, and they fell in love and married.

[0:33:08]
The other – Miss Myrick’s other child was admired and useful and able _____, Mr. VanCourt Pritchartt, V-A-N-C-O-U-R-T.  And the Pritchartt is different.  It’s P-R-I-T-C-H-A-R-D-D, I believe.  But I always look in the Ottawa church directory when I go spell Pritchartt just to be perfectly sure I have of the letters in there.  Mr. Pritchartt has been active as an elder at _____ church, and as a board member at Southwestern.  And in one interim, he served acting president of Southwestern for some months.

The house next to the Myrick house was built by Mr. and Mrs. Eugene Clark.  It’s a crème colored stucco and is now occupied by Mr. and Miss John Ford Granaly and their family.

[0:34:11]
I do not remember the house number, but I do remember their very beautiful garden that Louise Bennett Clarke – I believe that’s
B-E-N-N-E-T-T; I believe that Bennett is – Louise Bennett Clarke had a beautiful garden.  She bought her tulip bulbs abroad.  She and her family traveled abroad frequently.  She bought her tulip bulbs abroad.  And one spring, she sent out 3,000 bulbs of pink tulips.  The blue of it, of course, you can know was wildfox and iris, and an effort at delphinium.  It was a beautiful garden.  We saw it happily from the side, from the garden side.

[0:35:00]
But our happier view still was from our upstairs back porch, because we used to take the guests upstairs back porch to look over and get the upper view of the whole garden.  It was a lovely garden. (35:14:03)

 There were happy years when Mr. and Miss Clarke lived there.  Mr. Clarke’s death in a railroad accident – he had blood poison from bruising his hand in a Pullman door or something like that.  Anyway, Miss Clarke sold the house and at present, the Canalas have it.  They’ve lived there many years and they were dear neighbors and so good to my parents in the last decade of the parents’ lives, as all of our neighbors were.

Let me see, beyond that house, I believe the WK Loves built a house.  And I don’t know who lives there now.  The WK Loves –
L-O-V-E – have been dead for some time, and one or two people have owned the house since then.

[0:36:02]
One of the families that owned it was Jerred Blanchard family,
J-E-R-R-E-D, B-L-A-N-C-H-A-R-D.  Mr. Blanchard is a lawyer and has a splendid family here.  His son, Jerred Blanchard, Jr., is a lawyer, also.  And his daughter has a marvelous singing voice.  She is not in Memphis at this time.  She’s somewhere in the east.  Mr. Blanchard was another one of the persons who was so good to my father.

The young men in the neighborhood would stop in to talk to father and give him downtown talk, man talk.  It’s hard for an elderly person who’s always been among men to live all of his days among women.  And Eric Merrill, who – a lawyer who lived in the next block, and his lovely wife Irma, and others, were just so good to come and sit on the porch with father or come in the house in the wintertime and chat with him a little.

[0:37:04]
I remember them so appreciatively.

Across the street from us where the Youngs live now – I forget the house number.  The house was built by Mrs. PB Schabel.  Her husband was a member of one of the early German families and lived at one time on that property on the southwest corner of Poplar and Claybrook there.

Pat Faudry:
[Inaudible Comment]
Eleanor Richmond:
S-C-H-A-B-E-L.  And Miss Schabel had with her, her parents, Mr. and Miss Myers.  Her sister, Miss Mamie Myers – I think that was M-E-Y-E-R-S, Miss Mamie Myers.  Miss – no, no I believe it was M-Y-E-R-S.

[0:37:56]
Anyway, Miss Mamie was one of the first home economics teachers in the Memphis schools, and she taught the cooking and the sewing a Lauderdale Elementary School when we had those subjects in Grade 8, when Lauderdale had Grade 8.  Of course, the junior high school pattern in Memphis began about 19- – oh, let me see, perhaps by 1930.  Well, anyway – no, it began before 1930.  It began between – about 1926 or 7.  I believe Snowden was the first one that had the ninth grade held on to be a junior high school and then became Bellevue, which was built to be a junior high school.  And, of course, there were those in South Memphis.

Anyway, Miss Mamie was a very early teacher of home economics.  Mrs. Schabel gave her working time, and she was comfortably fixed.  Her working time was her own.

[0:39:03]
She gave her working time to the activities of the Presbyterian Church, Evergreen Presbyterian Church, and she had a summer place up at Mount Eagle, and she and her family were always up in there in the summer months.

Next door to Miss Schabel were Mr. and Mrs. Arthur Bruce.  They built that beautiful Dutch colonial house.  And, again, they had lumber.  Now the Bruces were from Chicago.  They came here on account of the Bruce Lumber business, I think.  And they were already in their house when we moved to Memphis.

Mr. Bruce was a graduate of the University of Chicago, and we understood that he played violin beautifully.  Now my grandfather Richmond had played violent beautifully, and he’d had some good lessons in Philadelphia, and we loved the violin.  But neither by blarney nor hook or crook, nor downright request did we ever get to hear Mr. Bruce play violin, though Miss Bruce played piano for him.  I expect he was simply too busy.

[0:40:03]
But the Bruces lived there for a number of years.  Mr. Bruce was a candidate for governor of Tennessee on the republican ticket at one time, I believe.  But presently, the Bruces that were still in the family sold the house and a Southwestern professor lives in it now. (40:21:09) 

They moved back to Chicago.The next house belonged to Mr. and Miss Allyn Jones,
A-L-L-Y-N, please.  Jones is the usual way.  They were Canadian people and I don’t know why they came here, perhaps for health.

One of the stories in West Tennessee town is that this family moved over from Scotland.  They lived in Ontario.  And it was too cold there for health.  I think they’d lived on the coast in Scotland and had the moderating waters.  Anyway, they were going to move south.  And they talked with people about south and they learned about South Dakota, so they moved to South Dakota.

[0:41:03]
Well, when they reached the place to which they were moving in South Dakota, they snow was up to the second story window.  So somehow they learned of Tipton County in Tennessee.  I don’t know what the connection was, but they moved to Tipton County.  They’re there now.  They’ve contributed through business and finance and music and art and medicine in every way there is.  And it was a fortunate south wind that blew that great useful family south.

But anyway, I’d what blew the Allyn Jones south to Memphis, but they went back to Canada every summer.  Mr. Jones was in a furniture company here South Front Street.  And their daughter, Frances graduated, at Hutchison.  An illness kept her from going to college.  She married Harold Ohlendorf, O-H-L-E-N-D-O-R-F.

[0:42:04]
They live over in Oseola, O-S-E-O-L-A, and I see them from time to time.  Their children came back to Memphis to boarding school at Lausanne School, L-A-U-S-A-N-N-E.

Now let me think.  The Richmonds went to school.  John went to University of Tennessee.  Edwin went to business school.  He is a businessman in Aransas Pass, Texas now, and has wide interests, and has had a very useful life.  And when chronicle of this generation of Richmonds is written, why, it will be Edwin that has the longest narrative.

John went to the University of Tennessee.  John loved the sea.  We consider that a throwback to the Scottish coast, maybe.

[0:43:01]
He was in the Merchant Marines for years during the war – World War II – why – you see, I’m old enough that I need to distinguish between World War I, when I knitted a washrag, I really did.  It was dirty when I got it knitted, but I knitted a washrag in World War I.  But this was World War II.

John ran an munitions ship in convoy.  And the ship in front of him and ship behind him were bombed and sank, and it was his responsibility to have his ship pick up the 137 survivors out of the water.  Two of those survivors some years later came to Memphis to visit John’s parents, and father and mother enjoyed seeing them very much because they wanted to thank John’s parents for having John and letting him go to sea.

John is retired now; lives in Florida.  But I’ve urged him to write his autobiography because he’s had tremendous experiences.

[0:44:03]
Virginia – well, Louis in the meantime, had graduated the University of Mississippi and had married the Rev.  Clyde Bass, a Methodist minister.  She was the first one of us.  She graduated at the University of Mississippi in 1922.  Then I graduated in at Southwestern in 1927 with a graduate degree at Wisconsin in 1933 and a 1934, term at Cambridge University in England because I am a word woman.  England language and literature is my field.  And I have loved it.

Oddly enough, this happy teacher of secondary school English was moved into administration about 1940, and I was a principal at the Humes – I was a principal.  There were two principals – at Humes High School for some 20 years.

Pat Faudry:
Starting in 1940.

[0:45:01]
Eleanor Richmond:
Starting about 1940.

Pat Faudry:
And you were there for that 20-year period.

Eleanor Richmond:
I was that there for that 20-year period.  But I’d been teaching there for about 13 years before that.

Pat Faudry:
At Humes?

Eleanor Richmond:
At Humes.  I taught there before I was in administration.

Pat Faudry:
So you had 33 years?

Eleanor Richmond:
I had – yeah, uh-huh.  That’s it.

Pat Faudry:
And that’s at Humes.

Eleanor Richmond:
Yeah, at Humes, uh-huh.

Pat Faudry:
Okay now was it – during that time you were at Humes, was it always the same grade structure?

Eleanor Richmond:
Always 7 through 12.

Pat Faudry:
And you had taught English for that 13 years prior.

Eleanor Richmond:
Not immediately, no.  Oh, no.  One doesn’t get to choose one’s subject immediately.  At first, I taught science, may I be forgiven for what I left undone.  Then, I taught what was called social studies, geography and then world history. (45:52:08) 

 And then after – well, presently, I had two English classes, and then I had five English classes.

[0:46:02]
But I had a full English program from about 1930 – about 1932 on.

Pat Faudry:
Okay.  Did –?

Eleanor Richmond:
And then went into administration.

Pat Faudry:
Now at that time, what were your responsibilities as a principal?  You said there were two principals?

Eleanor Richmond:
Yes.  Well, it depended on who the principal was.  The first principal, Dr. David Morris Hilliard, his doctorate was the University of Chicago, was tremendously interested in learning.  He wanted the football go to all right, but he was tremendously interested in learning.  And it was while he was there that he and I set up the patterns of standardized testing through all of the courses that were suited to standardized testing.  And that was the time – as I said, Dr. Hilliard had his doctorate from the University of Chicago.  That was the time that Humes attained the loftiest academic achievement.


[0:46:57]
We had students who earned their doctorates at Yale, Harvard, Chicago, and California, and University of Virginia.  And we had students who admitted and were graduated from Amherst and Dartmouth, scholarships, of course.  And we had a student admitted to Princeton, but he became ill and did not go.

Pat Faudry:
What was the boundary of Humes at that time?

Eleanor Richmond:
Oh, it came east about to Stonewall.  I forget.  It came south about to Poplar with a little optional territory beyond.  And it went north to the county line.

Pat Faudry:
Was that the river at that time?

Eleanor Richmond:
I don’t know what the county line was at that time.  And it went west to the river.  One of our strongest pupils lived on the island in the river and came over on skiff every morning.  We had strong academic courses.  At one time, we had the largest virgil class in Memphis.

[0:48:01]
We had a very strong academic department, well, academic, yes.  We had a very strong commercial department, also.  Our commercial department was so strong, I’ll pay tribute now to Miss Lyde Robinson, who’s still living.  She was the backbone of the commercial department.  And it was so strong that one firm downtown took four of our girls every June whether they needed them or not because they would need ’em before the year was out and they wanted to have ’em on hand.

Another firm took two of our girls every spring ’cause they’d need ’em before the year was out and somebody else would have ’em if they didn’t.

Pat Faudry:
What was the population of your student body at that time?

Eleanor Richmond:
Roughly 2,000.

Pat Faudry:
And did it held that period between 1940 and 1960?

[0:48:46]
Eleanor Richmond:
No, no.  The Depression did much to give Humes High School strong students.  For instance, we had two grandchildren – Woodrow Wilson’s sister, Marion, Miss George Howell, I believe she was.  And these were the children of Jessie Kennedy – oh, I said sister, Miss Ross Kennedy.  Well – yes, I would say his sister was Miss Ross Kennedy.  No, his niece was Miss Ross Kennedy.  And these children were the children of Jessie Kennedy Diar.  We had her daughters, Marion and Josephine, one named for the grandfather Joseph Wilson, and one named for the sister, Marion.

We had very able students.  And, also, we had this.  We had many refugee students.  And the refugee students learned quickly.  We’d get them with just a few words of English, and they learned quickly.  We had the Greeks.  We had the German Jews.  And we had some Mexicans.  And the refugee students – the immigrant students were a great strength.

[0:50:00]
For instance, for some years, we had a string quartet among our students.  When Southwestern set up Phi Beta Kappa in 1949, they had seven people, I believe, in the Phi Beta Kappa group.  Two of them were Humes High School graduates, Maury Shore and Herman Kaplan.  Of Southwestern’s road scholarships – and no institution has a great many road scholarships, two of them have been Humes High School graduates.  One is Professor James E.  Roper, who’s there now, and one is Wayne Goldsworthy, whose doctorate is Harvard.  He’s still getting it.  He’s still in the getting of it.  But Melvin Slemonson has a doctorate from Harvard, also.  He’s ours.  It’s in California.

But Humes was very strong academically, thanks to Moss Hilliard’s zeal.  Moss Hilliard left Humes to be a professor at Baylor University in Texas.

[0:51:02]
And he was succeeded by a man who had been principal at the eighth grade school in the neighborhood, Guthrey, and at Fairview Junior High School.  That was Mr. Brinley.  Mr. Brinley’s bachelors degree was from Memphis State, and his master’s degree in pedagogy was the University of the Mississippi.

Well, by that time, the people who were prosperous were moving away from that neighborhood.  They were moving out.  And they were moving into East Memphis.  They perhaps never would have moved into the North Memphis neighborhood if the Depression hadn’t made them move where rents were cheaper and cheapest.  But the Depression did a great deal for Humes High School, giving us very, very fine students.

I met with one of my students – former students at the post office the other day, and I said, “Oh, let me congratulate you.  I believe you have four daughters and every one of ’em has a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree.”

[0:52:05]
He said, “Yessm, that’s so, Syracuse and Syracuse, Nucum and Tulane, Illinois and Northwestern.”  I forget the fourth.  And he said, “Yes, but, Miss Richmond, I never did get one to get a masters at the University of Wisconsin.”  And I said, “Well, how sweet of you to remember that that’s where my masters was earned.”  And he said, “Well, I kept suggesting it to them that I knew you chose it.  But” – I said, “Well, I might have chosen any of the other places if circumstances had made it that way.”

And I have had students who have walked with responsibilities.  One of our girls – most of the men of her family have graduated from Dartmouth, even back 1840, but she as – she’s a widow now.  She was the wife of a surgeon of the United States Army.  And it reminded me of the line of Kipling’s – I would paraphrase it.

[0:53:07]
“Eat with kings, nor lose the common touch.”  I believe Kipling says, “Walk with kings, nor lose a common touch.”  But that lovely child became eat with kings as well as walk with kings and queens, nor lose the common touch.  We’ve had wonderful students, and they have been so lovely to me.  I hadn’t been over here a week, when one of my students who lives in Bell Aire Woods over there, that circle, rang up and said, “Honey, I understand you’re at the Parkview now.  Well, you know where I live.  Just right over here.  I’m the one that lives closest to you, so you call me when you want me to come do something for you.”  And a number of times when there’ve been troubles in the community, various students have called and said, “Now don’t you go out, and don’t you go out at night.  And if you have to go somewhere, you call me so I can come and take you.”

[0:54:03]
And I think really?  I makes me think of an incident at school.  There was a corner back of the building where the men in the neighborhood sometimes would gather to shoot craps.  And we knew it, and we struggled against it.  And one day I went out at lunch.  The principal was off campus at that time, and I went out at lunch to go there and see.  And as I walked toward that area, one of the long-legged boys, “Miss Richmond.  Miss Richmond, you mustn’t go back there.”  And I said, “What did you say to me?”

And he said, “I said if you’re going back there, I’m going with you.  Come on, fellas.”  So three long-legged boys and I went traipsing back there.  Well, there was no one there.  But I thought the incident had a certain charm.  It was – he knew somebody might chunk a rock at me and they might run.  But anyway, there was no one back there.  But I have had wonderful pupils.

[0:55:02]
Eleanor Glaze, who has written some things in Redbook and published a novel and a collection of short stories, was ours for a brief time.  Eleanor’s writing is a result largely of natural talent because she was not in readiness for her school courses.  However, somehow she took in things about paragraphing and punctuation that one wants to know about her talent.  She lives here in Memphis now.  She’s Miss Neal Ellis, as you may know, and lives out Raleigh way.  But she uses the name of her first marriage.  She married Walter Glaze, who is dead now.  She was Eleanor Sutton.  Then she married Walter Glaze.

Pat Faudry:
Let me ask you, during those years that you were principal, and you told me the boundaries.  Was this – and you said that you had some immigrant children.  Did you mainly have – was it mainly a white neighborhood?

[0:55:59]
Pat Faudry:
Oh, for us, it was all white.  We didn’t have any – Humes was not integrated while I was there.

Pat Tilley:
No, she meant in the – what could have been the area.  The neighborhood, was it all white?

Pat Faudry:
Was it all – was the neighborhood entirely white, or was there some –?

Eleanor Richmond:
No, no.  There were mixed areas.  And that is true all over two, of course, that there are mixed areas.  For instance, at the 1300 block on Washington there is not a white neighborhood.  But –
Pat Faudry:
Now did the black children go to another school?

Eleanor Richmond:
Yes, the black children –
Pat Faudry:
[Inaudible Comment]
Eleanor Richmond:
They would have gone to Cairns for elementary school.  They would have gone to Manassas High School for secondary school.  Carwell was not far away.  And –
Pat Faudry:
The students that you met at Humes, where did they – the white students, where did they go to elementary school?

Eleanor Richmond:
Oh, all of our feeder schools, Maury, Gordon, Merrill, Pope, Christine.  And I’ll have to put down – well, I won’t put down _____ and this.  Yes, I will, Lions _____ when they had it.

[0:57:10]
The – let me see.  What was that school called?  Well, anyway, there were – oh, it was the Oat Mare school, whatever that is.

Pat Faudry:
[Inaudible Comment]
Eleanor Richmond:
Yes, uh-huh.  That was on Keel.  And then, of course, as the years passed, Shrine School out on – well, out in the Lawler School building.  The Shrine Secondary School was not – how shall I put this?  As a secondary school, it was non-existent.  There was no Shrine High School accredited in Nashville.  It was an extension of Humes High School.  And the students who graduated at Shrine School received a diploma from Humes High School.

[0:58:00]
Our teachers sent their tests out there.  The Shrine School children were brought in a bus over to Humes to see the educational films.  And if practical, one of our teachers might go out there for an examination of a child in some field.  Of course, the children out there had pitifully afflicted bodies, as you know.  Miss Vay McElwrath –V-A-Y, Vay.  M-C-E-L-W-R-A-T-H.  Miss Vay McElwrath was the principal at that time and she and Dr. Hilliard worked out that arrangement.  Hilliard is H-I-L-L-I-A-R-D.

And they worked out that arrangement, and it was continued for a while.  Now I believe Shrine has a new building.  Shrine was extended, so part of it was down at Winchester School.
W-I-N-C-H-E-S-T-E-R.  And I do not know just how it was –
[0:59:03]
Pat Faudry:
After it – 

Eleanor Richmond:
– after I left.

Pat Faudry:
Okay.  After your years at Humes, you were there until ’60.  Then you said you went to Maury?

Eleanor Richmond:
Maury.

Pat Faudry:
Right.  Now that school is –
Eleanor Richmond:
That school is now used for offices, adult education.  It’s not an elementary school any more.

Pat Faudry:
You were at Maury from ’60 to –
Eleanor Richmond:
Seventy.

Pat Faudry:
Sixty to ’70.  And that was just an elementary school.

Eleanor Richmond:
Yes.  Maury was integrated while I was there.  The integra- –
Pat Faudry:
It was still K through 6 – I mean, well 1 through 6?

Eleanor Richmond:
Yeah, K through 6.

Pat Faudry:
K through 6.

Eleanor Richmond:
K through 6, and we had the sight saving room, the only one in town at that time.  And I had junior league volunteers.  They were splendid.  Miss Chloe, C-H-L-O-E, Burch, B-U-R-C-H, taught the sight saving room.  Oh, she was skillful.  She had gone to Detroit and studied and observed Gladys Owen in Detroit.  Now Gladys Owen was a pioneer as I understand it, and adjusting to sight saving.

[1:00:02]
Well, the Grade 7 through 12 in sight saving were put over at Humes High School while I was there.  Later, that was altered.  Later, the sight saving room at Maury was abolished, of course, and several sight saving rooms over town were set up.  But I want to tell you, I was crossing in 1934, on a cargo boat, the American Trader.  I came home with the same line on the American Farmer.  It took us 10 days to go over, and 11 to go back.  There were 21 good days.

On that cargo boat, was Gladys Owen of Detroit, who had prepared the first textbooks for the sight savings school.  She was a pioneer in sight saving work.  And I was then at Humes High School.  But Gladys and I talked and talked and talked and talked about the way we do it, I not ever dreaming that about 1960, I’d be in – I’d have a sight saving room in my school with six grades and a large list of volunteers.

[1:01:06]
But when I moved into the sight saving room and when I talked with Chloe about her six or eight weeks with Gladys Owen and my three weeks on the cargo boat when we talked almost every day, why I thought, “Well, God moves in a mysterious way, his wonders to perform,” because I have much more understanding about the sight saving room that I would have if Gladys Owen and I hadn’t chatted so much on the boat.  And I had had a little insight because we had the older pupils who had limited vision.

But anyway, things have worked out.  Things have worked out.

Pat Faudry:
[Inaudible Comment]

Eleanor Richmond:
You may wonder how it went when we integrated at Maury.  Mr. Freeman was not superintendent then, but he was one of the key men at the board, and he telephoned me that there were some people on the way out.  They’d be there in a minute.

[1:02:04]
So, I was able to be at the door to meet them and bring them and get them registered.  Well, the first day that we had the mixed group, I began calling every black person on the place, Mister, Misses, or Miss.  And I did it subtly when we were in the dining room, and the child was waiting for his plate, I said, “Mrs. Powell is bringing the tray of hot food just as fast as she can,” or I said, “Will you take this milk bottle for me over, please, and give to Miss Rose over there?”  Everybody followed.

Nobody said anything, but – and as soon as I said Miss and Misses and Mister, why everybody picked it up that day, just like that.  And the Parent/Teachers Association promptly elected one of the mothers of the black children to a duty.  I forget what it was.  It was something that they hadn’t had to have ’cause they hadn’t had it before.

[1:03:07]
But anyway, they elected her, so she was on the PTA board.  And we –
 [End of Tape 1, Beginning of Tape 2]

[0:00:00]
[Crosstalk]
Pat Faudry:
This is Tape No. 1 of a conversation with Eleanor Richmond.  This is Pat Faudry.  With me is Betty Tilly.  This is May 11, 1979.  This is part of a project sponsored by Metropolitan Interfaith Association with a grant from the Tennessee Committee for the Humanities studying the history of Memphis neighborhoods and public policy.  The neighborhood we’re working on is Mid-Memphis Improvement Association.

Miss Richmond is right in the middle of telling about some of the procedure involved when Maury School was integrated.
Eleanor Richmond:
Oh, the DAI essay contest, yes.  The pupils in Grade 6 wrote and they were allowed to choose.  They chose the essay of Malberta Trotter.  I don’t know which black school Malberta had attended before she came to Humes, but Malberta was smart.  She told her me her half sister was teaching in a school in Washington City.
[0:01:04]
I do not know what or where.  But Malberta wrote about Mylee Pitcher, and she read her essay dramatically.  She was chosen the best essay.  The second best in that room was a newly arrived Greek boy.  His essay was in rather silted English.  It’s very hard to choose the best essay in a situation like that, but those were the two.  And we had two in the fifth grade who were not quite so unusual as essays.

Anyway, the Watauga Chapter, Daughters of the American Revolution was meeting in the Phi Kappa Alpha house.  And because one always has a backup, I asked the PTA president to go with me in case I were called away, and then she could take them home take them back to school in her car.  So each one of us had some of them, and we went out.

[0:01:57]
I noticed that only the Greek boy took his coffee.  The refreshments were cake and coffee, and we had refreshments first.  But the Greek boy knew what to do with his coffee, but the others did not.  Oh, and I must tell you while Malberta was rehearsing for me in the auditorium, she I said, “Malberta, I’m going to wear what I have on.  Now that’s a pretty little dress you have on.  Suppose you wear that.  Ask your mother.  And she said, “Oh, no.  Mother’s going to get me a new dress.”

Well, I had a vision of organdy with a sash or something.  I didn’t know how dressed up Malberta was going to be.  But anyway, the day came.  Malberta came to school.  She came in the office, a beautiful little shell pink linen with a white binding around the neck and sleeves, and a design of white tubing down the left side of the dress, a beautiful one of those simple little dresses that cost more than you think it’s going to.
[0:02:55]
And I said, “Oh, Malberta, that’s a perfectly lovely dress.  I wish I had it.  It is beautiful.  And she smiled and she said, “I thought you’d like it.  My mother asked the sales lady to choose a dress for me to wear to read a composition at a club, and the sales lady chose it.  I said, “Well, it’s lovely.  Malberta, suppose you spill tomato ketchup on that dress in the cafeteria.  Now just suppose.  And she laughed.  She said, “I knew you’d say that.  Now I brought another dress and I thought you’d want me to leave this one up here till after school.”

I said, “You read you know me well, honey.  And so she did, and no harm came to her beautiful dress.  And she read the essay very nicely.

We asked the organization to give the pupils their money in cash because we had the problem one year of a family that hadn’t had a check before and so they framed the check and hung up on the parlor wall or hung it up on the wall at home ’cause they were so proud of it.
[0:04:04]
And, of course, the treasurer was delayed.  That check hadn’t come through.  And presently, when I was asked to investigate, why it was agreed that we’d have a photocopy of the check that they could keep and then the check could be cashed and make the treasurer book.

Malberta was a very interesting person.  All of our black children were interesting people.  Who was the man from Chacarl Rowan who was a newspaper man, I believe, interested in government.  Anyway, once our Carl, who was perhaps the ablest of the entire group of black students, had a broken foot, and so he could not go out to physical education.  He was in the office and I said, “I have you.  You’re a captive listener.  I want to try this article about Carl Rowen on you to see whether it’s good enough to put in the sixth grade homeroom.”

[0:05:01]
And I read him the article, and he said, “Oh, I’m so glad you read that to me.  My father thinks a lot of that man.  My father talks about that man a whole lot.  I’ll tell papa about him.  I’m Grand so glad you read that to me.  Well, you can see that he was a youngster who reacted.  He played football very well through junior and senior high school and we used to have clippings of him to put on the bulletin board, our alumnus playing football.

One of the black students one time said to me, “Well” we had some speaker in the auditorium who wanted to talk to the students, and it fell out that the six students who were moved to the platform were all white.  That wasn’t intended, but it was that way.  And after that as the lines were moving out, I chanced to say to one of the black students it wasn’t Carl.  I forget who it was “That was good, wasn’t it?”
[0:06:01]
And the answer was and I felt so thankful that the pupil saw his way clear to say what he was thinking.  The answer was, “Yes.  The man talks splendidly, but I was interested that every one of the six boys and girls up there was white.  And I said, “Well, that wasn’t representative, was it?  That wasn’t meant to be.  And thank you for calling it to my attention.  We’ll bear that in mind.  It was not a representative group up there.  And he said, “Well, that was a word I didn’t know to use, but that’s” and I thought what a kindly criticism it was.  He wanted to speak for an appropriate development, and I was so thankful that he did speak.

But we saw the faculty, the staff, the pupils, and the community integrate 50/50, and we never had an incident.  And I’m very, very thankful that that was the case.

[0:07:09]
The first time that we had a mixed program in Maury School at night, it was a talent show to choose the person who would appear representing Maury at the mid-south fair.  I think they don’t have it any more, sorta unnecessary, but still it brought out talent.  Anyway, we had a mixed audience, quite mixed.  And I noticed this is something that shows you that my heart stays at Humes High School.

I noticed as the people came in, one after another of the Humes High School young men, fathers children _____ they all came and spoke to me.  “Now, honey, if there’s anything you want me to do tonight honey, why don’t you let me stand here at the fire escape the way we used to do at Humes?  Honey, why don’t you let me take the third floor?  Now, honey, why don’t you let me take the boys’ lab downstairs?”
[0:08:07]
“Honey, why don’t you let me take the south end of the building?  And I realized that it was planned.  I wasn’t consulted.  It was all planned.  But one of them brought me a Coca-Cola in a paper cup, and he said, “Now, honey, what you need to do is just sit right here so we can come to you if we need to.  But you’ve taught us what to do.”

Well, that’s all.

[Skip in Audio]
My days at Humes High School have been over for a long time.  And my students stand at the very tops of their fields in Memphis at this time in education, in medicine, in banking, and other areas of life.

[0:08:56]
One day I was eating down at the Calvary Waffle Shop and three former students who were judges came and sat along at the table.  We’ve had students in every area of life and they have all been so unfailingly considerate of my parents and me, so gracious to me.  And when my elderly father would patter across the street in those walks he was determined to take, why, the squad car would help to see that the passage was clear that he might get safely across the street nearest home.  That was a busy corner without a light.

My former students have enriched my life beyond any possibility of measuring or repaying what they have given to me.  Perhaps I should close by saying the Humes Creed.  It was written when Dr. Hilliard came to the school, he asked that we write a Humes Creed, and the one that I wrote was chosen, and I’m told they say it still at Humes Junior High School.

[0:10:05]
And numerous former students have told me that they and their children say it in their homes in the morning and we said it in the mornings at Humes High School.

“This new day I dedicate myself under God to the opportunities before me.  I consecrate my mind to development, my hands to usefulness as I strive toward a better world for those who come after me.  This is my creed and my task.  Goodbye.
Pat Faudry:
Okay.  I saw Eleanor where she’s still in the lobby of the Parkview.  She had been talking about her brothers and sisters and had slighted some of them.  She didn’t want to leave ’em all out.  Eleanor, let’s take up with the other two that you had missed.

Eleanor Richmond:
All right.  Thank you for giving me this postscript.  I forgot to mention the two youngest.  Virginia was born soon after we reached Covington.  The neighbors were so sweet to us that Christmas, making Santa Claus ’cause Virginia was born on the 12th, and Christmas came.

[0:11:06]
However, we moved to Memphis a dozen years later and she entered Snowden School and graduated from the eighth grade.  I believe that was the last time they had an eighth grade graduation.  And her years at Central were splendid.  She graduated at Southwestern where she was a very happy student, and had a grant for graduate study at Tulane.

Then she worked briefly in New Orleans and went to Columbus, Georgia, where she was head of the Junior League Social Work in the county.  She married a lawyer there, James R.  Kahn, a graduate of Georgia Tech, and of Emery.  And when the war came, why Jimmy was called forth from the Naval Reserve promptly.  They lived in Charleston, South Carolina for a while till Jimmy went to sea.

[0:11:58]
Then Virginia directed an internment camp for lawyer Japanese in California near Los Angeles.  After the war, they settled in Charleston after a brief period in San I’m sorry.  They settled in Washington, a brief period in San Mateo, California.  But they settled in Washington where he was in the Judge Advocates Division until he retired.

Virginia has been keenly interested in various areas of social work.  She has worked through the police station as a volunteer member of the Junior League, and she has worked in various ways.

Now the youngest one, Jessie, always had the feeling that she was the sixth one, and she had to get along because the years were passing.  She graduated at Snowden Junior High, the first class that had the ninth grade at Snowden.  She graduated from Central with high honors, as Virginia had.  But Jessie won a competitive book store scholarship that brought a welcome hunk of money in to the Richmond _____ and helped her in tuition fees at Southwestern.
[0:13:02]
Jessie loved library work.  As Eleanor had worked at public library work nights and vacations, Jessie had learned to share books as a volunteer playing in the library while her sister was a staff member there.  And so Jessie went to the University of Illinois Library School.  It was Tulane where Virginia had done her graduate work, but Illinois for Jessie.

And then she worked in the library in the Memphis City library until she became the new librarian at the new Army hospital out on the edge of Memphis.  She was there until after peace came, and it became a veterans hospital.  She was succeeded by a long-time friend, Albert M.  Johnson.  And she went overseas to the Japanese assignment at Yokohama.

[0:13:54]
She was there about 11 and a half years, most of that time a staff librarian at the Armed Force of the Far East, and had experiences that make me feel she should write a book because she wore a uniform and she wore it many places.  One was to represent the United States Army, the 75th Anniversary of St. Paul Episcopal University where she sat beside the sister of the emperor.  Jessie in her uniform, which she wore proudly, the sister of the emperor in a most beautiful shell pink satin robe.  I think Jessie didn’t take her eyes off that garment the entire time.

Great people came to visit in the Japanese military surrounds and she had pleasant contacts with such people as Miss Roosevelt and Helen Keller.  It was a great experience.  She was there about 12 years.  Two men she spoke of whose names are still in daily life, Kais Beech, and James Mitchener.  And she and her husband, Matthew L. Hupper they were married in Germany later exchanged Christmas cards with a wide variety of their Japanese friends.
[0:15:02]
When the headquarters were moved to Korea, Jessie put in for a transfer to the European theater.  She’d been in Japan about 11 years.  She was transferred to the executive librarian of the United States Army in Europe, and she lived in Heidelberg.  It was so there that I went two summers to stay with her.  And we had marvelous experiences there.

Jessie married there at Heidelberg.  The civil ceremony was in Switzerland.  The religious ceremony was there in Patrick Henry Village.  And she and her husband came back to the states.  For a brief time they were in California, then a brief time, why, she was at Fort Bragg.  Oh, and a brief time up at Fort Loring in Maine.  I believe that’s the name of it.  I’m a little bit not clear.

But anyway, she and her husband settled to spend long summers in his native Maine where I have been such happy summers with them.  I’ve quite become a Maine-iac.

[0:16:03]
And to spend our winters at their house in Florida.  And all I want Jessie to do that she hasn’t done is to write a history of the rich experiences that she and her husband, Matthew Hupper, have had.

Thank you for letting me –
[End of Audio]
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